

Tax Working Group Public Submissions Information Release

Release Document

September 2018

taxworkingroup.govt.nz/key-documents

Key to sections of the Official Information Act 1982 under which information has been withheld.

Certain information in this document has been withheld under one or more of the following sections of the Official Information Act, as applicable:

- [1] 9(2)(a) to protect the privacy of natural persons, including deceased people;
- [2] 9(2)(k) to prevent the disclosure of official information for improper gain or improper advantage.

Where information has been withheld, a numbered reference to the applicable section of the Official Information Act has been made, as listed above. For example, a [1] appearing where information has been withheld in a release document refers to section 9(2)(a).

In preparing this Information Release, the Treasury has considered the public interest considerations in section 9(1) of the Official Information Act.



Tax Depreciation – non-residential buildings

Report to Property Council New Zealand

8 February 2010





Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Summary of findings	2
3	Scope of our analysis	3
4	Depreciation for tax purposes	3
5	Separating buildings from land	4
6	TWG analysis	5
7	Evidence from the 2004 officials' issues paper on depreciation	5
8	Other international evidence	7
9	Summary of the additional international evidence	11
10	New Zealand evidence and issues	11
11	Impact if depreciation on non-residential buildings was removed	13
12	Tax depreciation treatment in other jurisdictions	14
13	Pressure on capital/revenue boundary	15
14	Conclusion	15
15	Disclaimers	16
16	Appendix – Summary of responses from KPMG's global member firms (Depreciation and Land Tax Rules)	17



1 Introduction

The Tax Working Group ("TWG") in its report, A Tax System for New Zealand's Future, considered that one (targeted) option for broadening the tax base would be:

Removing tax depreciation on buildings (or certain categories of buildings) if empirical evidence shows that they do not depreciate in value.

This analysis is prepared to help answer the question: do buildings (or certain categories of buildings) depreciate? It has been prepared on behalf of the Property Council New Zealand (PCNZ), a not for profit organisation that represents New Zealand's commercial, industrial, retail, property funds and multi unit residential property owners, managers and investors.

PCNZ represents all forms of commercial property and property investment in New Zealand. Its membership ranges from NZX-listed property trusts ("LPTs") to smaller commercial property investors. The commercial and industrial property sector is an important part of the New Zealand productive sector, providing vital infrastructure for New Zealand businesses (i.e. New Zealand Inc).

2 Summary of findings

We believe the answer to the question posed by the TWG: *do buildings depreciate,* is they do depreciate, at least in the context of non-residential buildings (i.e. commercial and industrial property), which is the focus of our analysis. This conclusion is based on:

- Our understanding of the international evidence, including the various economic studies since the late 1970s which have concluded that commercial and industrial buildings broadly depreciate at rates of between 2-4% per annum. These studies were noted in an Inland Revenue and Treasury issues paper on tax depreciation, released in 2004, which concluded that buildings do depreciate.
- More recent international evidence that supports officials' 2004 analysis. These studies suggest that rates for commercial and industrial rates could be higher (and the useful lives of buildings appear to be shortening). We have not found any studies that suggest buildings do not depreciate.
- Qualitative factors, such as: the high-rates of re-development of commercial buildings (particularly in the Auckland and Wellington CBD areas); changes in building technology (i.e. the need to comply with new building standards); and changing tenant preferences (i.e. "Green" buildings for Government and changes in configuration over time, due to the move from individual offices to open plan) which mean that buildings can and do economically lose value over time. Buildings also move across different segments of the market, over their economic life (a prime building in the 1970s will typically be sub-prime property today, all other things held constant).



We believe that the economic cost of removing depreciation on buildings will be borne primarily by the New Zealand business sector. This is based on a high-level breakdown of the \$1.3 billion revenue estimate for removing depreciation. We understand approximately 70% of this estimate relates to non-residential property depreciation. In our view, property investors will account for a very small fraction of this (e.g. we have estimated the largest four LPTs, which are a fair representation of the New Zealand institutional property investor market, hold around 3 to 4% of the total building capital stock).

The flow-on implications, from removing depreciation on buildings, will be lower quality of infrastructure (as there would be lesser incentives to reinvest in capital) or higher rents (as landlords look to recover the lost tax deductions). Neither will be a particularly desirable outcome.

New Zealand would be an outlier internationally. We note that the majority of our trading partners, including Australia, Germany, Japan and the United States allow depreciation on (some or all) non-residential buildings. In the race to attract and keep capital, New Zealand would be at a significant disadvantage.

3 Scope of our analysis

The scope of our analysis is limited to the depreciation question around non-residential buildings – broadly commercial and industrial property, such as office buildings, warehousing, manufacturing plant and shopping centres. This reflects the typical asset holdings of PCNZ members.

We have not considered whether residential rental properties depreciate in value (note: hotel buildings and other buildings used for commercial residential accommodation would be treated as non-residential buildings under our definition). We note that there are different dynamics in the residential property market, the most significant being the owner-occupier versus rental dynamic, which may mean the results may be different for this sector.

Our definition of building is the "shell" or physical structure. It does not encompass any chattels, including those attached to the building (such as lifts). We note that chattels are separately depreciable and would be unaffected by any changes to the depreciation of buildings.

This paper also does not explicitly consider the various other property/land-centric taxing options considered by the TWG, such as a land tax or RFRM on residential property investment.

The focus of this paper is purely on whether non-residential buildings depreciate, to answer the question posed by the TWG.

4 Depreciation for tax purposes

Depreciable property is defined in the Income Tax Act 2007 as "property that, in normal circumstances, might reasonably be expected to decline in value while it is used or available for



use in [either] deriving assessable income; or in carrying on a business for the purpose of deriving taxable income."

A number of the international studies, which are discussed later on, separate out the depreciation attributable to physical wear and tear (i.e. the deterioration in physical capacity of the building asset) with so-called economic depreciation (which relates to the ageing of an asset and is attributable to factors such as obsolescence). Depending on which type of depreciation is being discussed, the economic profile of loss in value may vary – we note the references to "one hoss-shay", "straight-line" and "geometric" depreciation profiles in the literature. Similarly, we note that the economic literature discusses a range of available depreciation methods, including the "double declining balance" method, depending on the appropriate economic depreciation profile. The different international studies also use different methodologies – some use asset price models, which consider the price of used assets (estimating depreciation as the change in the price of the asset as it ages), while others use a retirement approach (which estimates retirements and withdrawals from the capital stock and use these to estimate the depreciation pattern and rate).

Our definition of depreciation encompasses both the physical deterioration of a building and other environmental factors. As noted above, environmental factors can include changes in building technology, i.e. obsolescence, as well as changes in tenant preferences such as the configuration and internal specification of a building, which will affect a property's value over time. We believe that our comprehensive definition is consistent with the tax definition.

In summary, the value of a building is, broadly speaking, the net present value of the future cash-flows (or rents) that are expected to be derived from a property. Both physical deterioration and environmental factors will impact on this NPV calculation over time.

In theory, the cost of repairing or maintaining a building should be treated as a deductible expense in the year such expenditure is incurred. However, if the work adds to or improves the asset, this may constitute capital expenditure, with the cost having to be capitalised and depreciated over future years. The issue of what constitutes repairs and maintenance and what is a capital improvement is, however, a significant area of concern which needs to be clarified.

5 Separating buildings from land

One popular argument for removing depreciation on buildings is that when combined land and buildings generally appreciate in value; therefore allowing tax depreciation on the structure seems unreasonable.

Such an argument is a significant oversimplification. Land is not depreciable property for tax purposes. To suggest that any appreciation in the value of land is somehow a justification for denying depreciation on the structure is wrong, from a policy perspective. The two should be considered as separate issues. We note that officials have previously supported this approach.



6 TWG analysis

No empirical data on building depreciation rates is presented in the TWG report and there is very little analysis on the costs versus benefits of removing tax depreciation on buildings. We are also unable to find any TWG background papers, prepared by Inland Revenue or Treasury, on this issue. (We discuss in the next section some analysis carried out by officials in 2004.)

6.1 The rental housing tax bias

The TWG's depreciation recommendation appears to be linked to a perception by the Group that rental property investment is tax advantaged – we refer to the statement in the TWG report, widely quoted in the media, that:

There is ... a very large investment in rental properties, where overall this \$200 billion sector of the economy had a negative taxable return of about \$500 million in 2008.

In our view, the TWG's building depreciation recommendation appears to be aimed squarely at addressing the perceived shortcomings in the taxation of residential rental housing. As noted earlier, consideration of whether residential rental investment is tax advantaged is outside the scope of our analysis. If there is an issue with the taxation treatment of rental housing, this should be addressed as a specific targeted measure. (We note, for example, that some other jurisdictions differentiate between residential and non-residential buildings, allowing tax depreciation only on the latter.)

We believe a clear distinction needs to be drawn between the residential rental sector and the commercial and industrial property sector, which provides the core infrastructure for New Zealand's businesses. In contrast to residential rental property owners, we understand the commercial and industrial property sector is a net tax payer and contributor to the New Zealand economy.

Unfortunately, the perception is that all buildings should be included in the scope of any depreciation change. This is not helped by the fiscal implications being based not only on removing depreciation on residential rental properties, but all buildings – we discuss the costings in greater detail later on. This seems an illogical leap from the "solution" the TWG appears to be recommending to a very narrow problem. This is particularly so, given the various overseas studies which show that buildings do depreciate. We discuss some of this international evidence below.

7 Evidence from the 2004 officials' issues paper on depreciation

Our starting point has been to revisit the 2004 Inland Revenue and Treasury officials' issues paper, *Repairs and Maintenance to the Tax Depreciation rules*.



The issues paper reviewed the overall coherence of the tax depreciation framework with a focus on ensuring that the overall structure of the depreciation rules is as good as is practicable and that the detailed design of the rules can cope with the complex, real-world issues that arise. Among the issues considered were the competing investment biases created by inflation and depreciation loadings in favour of long-lived and short lived assets, respectively.

Chapter 5 of the issues paper considered the tax depreciation treatment of structures. A key constraint was the lack of New Zealand studies on economic depreciation of buildings and/or sufficiently robust New Zealand data for modelling depreciation on building.

In the absence of New Zealand data, a number of international studies were relied upon. The key international study relied upon was Hulten and Wykoff (1980)¹ which supports the view that buildings do depreciate.

Hulten and Wykoff estimated diminishing value rates of depreciation for various building types, excluding rental housing of: 2.02 percent for retail stores, 2.47 percent for offices, 2.73 percent for warehouses and 3.61 percent for factories.

A paper by Fraumeni (1997)² is also referenced. It indicated that the United States Bureau of Economic Analysis had estimated economic depreciation rates of 3.14 percent (based on a 31-year economic life) for industrial buildings and 2.47 percent (based on a 36-year economic life) for office buildings.

Other international studies considered in the issues paper were a study by Deloitte and Touche (2000)³, which estimated economic depreciation rates of between 2.10 and 4.48 percent for different classes of building and a survey of various studies on economic depreciation for buildings by Gravelle (2000)⁴, which concluded that buildings probably depreciate at rates in excess of 2 percent, but probably less than 4 percent.

In summary, none of the international studies quoted in the issues paper found that buildings (particularly non-residential structures) do not depreciate.

Officials' conclusion (in Chapter 9 of the issues paper), expressed in the context of removing depreciation on residential rental housing, was that depreciation for buildings should not be removed:

¹ The Measurement of Economic Depreciation Using Vintage Asset Prices: An application of the Box-Cox Power Transformation, Hulten, Charles R. and Franck C. Wykoff, Journal of Econometrics 15 No. 8 (April 1981).

² The measure of depreciation in the US national income and production accounts, Bardara M. Fraumeni, Survey of Current Business, July 1997.

³ Deloitte and Touche, *Analysis of the Economic and Tax Depreciation of Structures*, Washington DC, June 2000.

⁴ Depreciation and the Taxation of Real Estate, Gravelle, J. CRS Report to Congress (October 2000).



Officials do not support the option of denying depreciation deductions for rental housing altogether, as such a measure raises a number of concerns. Property prices are typically made up of land and improvements (the asset – house – on that land and any improvements to that asset or the land itself). Denying depreciation deductions entirely might be suggested because properties often appreciate rather than depreciate, although depreciation deductions are aimed at reflecting changes in the value of improvements over time. If the overall value of a property does not change but improvements depreciate while land appreciates, failure to allow for depreciation deductions will discourage economically efficient investment in new improvements. Buildings are scrapped on occasion, and it is clear that at least these buildings have fully depreciated. The evidence presented in chapter 5 provides a rationale for some reduction to building depreciation rates but not for denying depreciation deductions altogether. [Our emphasis added]

If the above analysis holds for rental housing, we believe it is no less applicable to non-residential buildings (it is arguably more applicable given the international evidence that commercial, retail and industrial buildings typically have higher rates of economic depreciation than residential property.)

We note that concerns that the tax depreciation rate for buildings was too high, based on the international economic literature survey at the time, resulted in the 2005 rate change, from 4% to 3% (on a DV basis) (and 3% to 2% on a straight-line basis). In our view, this should be the extent of any change to the depreciation regime for non-residential buildings.

We do not believe that there have been any developments since 2004 which rebut the international findings above on depreciation of buildings. (In the next section we provide some recent research which suggests that the building depreciation rate may in fact be too low in the case of commercial and industrial properties.)

One of the ways forward identified in the issues paper was:

"...using New Zealand data, if feasible, to test the reasonableness of depreciation rates. One option that is currently being explored is to use New Zealand valuation data on a sample of properties for which no consents for structural improvements have been given. This may be a way of finding how the value of improvements has changed over time without the data being biased as a result of structural improvements to existing properties."

Unfortunately, we note that the data issues that existed at the time of the 2004 review persist today – we discuss these constraints later on.

8 Other international evidence

In addition to the literature on economic depreciation rates for buildings identified in the 2004 issues paper, we have conducted a new search focusing on non-residential buildings. The results of our review are summarised below:



8.1 Patry, A. (2007) Economic Depreciation and Retirement of Canadian Assets: A Comprehensive Empirical Study. Statistics Canada.

Patry provides a comprehensive empirical study of the economic depreciation of a range of Canadian assets, including various types of non-residential buildings. Patry also provides a useful summary of the depreciation rate estimates from the literature (the rates for buildings are outlined in the table below)

Table 2.1.1 Depreciation rate estimates from the literature (%)

		Ra	nge
Assets/Studies	Rate	From	То
Office Buildings			
Hulten and Wykoff (1981a, 1981b, 1996)	2.5		
Deloitte and Touche (2000)	3.5		
Baum and McElhinney (1997)		1.6	2.9
Tanguay (2005)	5.9		
Gellatly, Tanguay and Yan (2002)	7.6		
Gellatly, Tanguay and Yan (2007)	7.4		
Industrial Buildings			
Hulten and Wykoff (1981a, 1981b, 1996)	3.6		
Deloitte and Touche (2000)	2.1		
Tanguay (2005)	9.1		
Gellatly, Tanguay and Yan (2002)	13.0		
Gellatly, Tanguay and Yan (2007)	9.7		

Patry's empirical study of Canadian assets include a breakdown of 25 various types of commercial and institutional buildings, as well as 13 types of industrial buildings. The study estimates that the average ex-ante service life (similar to our estimated useful life concept) is around 32 years for buildings (however, more recently – between 1995 and 2001 – the average service life has fallen from nearly 36 years to 28 years).

The ranges of diminishing value depreciation rates for commercial buildings vary from 6.2% to 8.9% with major outliers being a 4.4% rate for religious buildings and 10.6% for post offices. The depreciation rate for industrial buildings vary in range from 7.0% to 12.6% with the major outliers being warehouses at 6.0%, mine buildings at 17.5% and bunkhouses/dormitories and camps estimated at 16.1%. (The full estimated results are available in Annex D of the Patry paper).

In summary, the average depreciation rate for office buildings is found to be 5.9%, with 6.4% for shopping centres and 9.9% for manufacturing plants – refer table below. The average depreciation rate for all non-residential buildings was found to be around 7.3%.



Table 6.1 Economic depreciation rates for major asset categories			
	Depreciation rate		
	Estimated	Updated	Official
Buildings			
Office Buildings	6.2	5.9	2.2
Manufacturing Plants	8.7	9.9	3.0
Shopping Centres, Plazas and Stores		6.4	2.4
Farm Buildings		8.3	2.5
Warehouses, Refrigerated Storage and Freight Terminals	6.3	6.0	2.5
Maintenance Garages, Workshops and Equipment Storage Facilities	6.8	6.8	3.0
Restaurants, Fast Food Outlets, Bars and Nightclubs		8.5	3.4
Hotels, Motels and Convention Centres		5.5	2.2
Indoor Recreational Buildings		6.3	2.5
Passenger Terminals - (such as air, boat, bus and rail)		6.0	2.8
Total 10 average (representing 87% of building capital stock)	7.1	7.2	2.5
Building average	7.1	7.3	2.6

Patry finds that depreciation rates for buildings are on average almost triple the official rates used by Statistics Canada and the United States Bureau of Economic Analysis, which are largely based on the Hulten and Wykoff results. The increases are across the board with office buildings and shopping centres depreciating at close to 6.0% per year and manufacturing facilities depreciating close to 10% (compared to 2% and 3%, respectively under the official rates).

Patry concludes that a valuation bias in older buildings caused by accumulated improvements may explain the lower economic depreciation rates in the existing literature, including Hulten and Wykoff. The model used to sample the data was similar to the other depreciation literature, including Hulten and Wykoff.

8.2 Baum, A. and McElhinney, A. (1997) The Causes and Effects of Depreciation in Office Buildings: a Ten Year Update

This paper compares a study undertaken in 1986 by the same authors and estimates depreciation rates in office buildings in Central London ten years later.

The 1986 study found that the average rate of rental depreciation of the 125 buildings in the study's sample set was 1.1% while capital value depreciation was 1.6%. The most significant and important determinant of depreciation in rental value was found to be the configuration of the building, followed by the internal specification and external appearance (i.e. obsolescence related factors). Physical deterioration was found to be the least important. For explaining depreciation in capital value, internal specification and external appearance were most important; deterioration was again least important.



In 1996, the average rental depreciation rate had increased to 2.2% with capital value depreciation increasing to 2.9%. The sample of 128 buildings included 82 buildings in the 1986 study. The highest period of depreciation in the 1996 study was found to be much earlier in the life of a building (ages 7 to 12) than in the 1986 study (ages 17 to 26 and 20 to 29 for rental and capital values, respectively).

The study concludes that building lives are getting shorter (falling from around 40-45 years in 1986 to around 25 years in 1996) with depreciation for older property lower than depreciation on new property because older properties are closer to the end of their building lives and therefore close to their site (i.e. land) values.

8.3 Gort, M., Greenwood J. and Rupert, P. (1999) Measuring the Rate of Technological Progress in Structures

The study analyses the degree of technical progress in structures; it notes that as each decade passes new technology enables advances to be made. The study uses price data to determine the impact of technological change on building rents, the hypothesis being that newer office buildings have new and improved technologies embodied in their structures and should therefore rent for more than old ones, when holding the general physical condition of the building constant (i.e. assuming buildings are continually kept in good repair).

The study concludes that the rate of structure-specific technological progress is about 1% per annum. Due to technological progress buildings eventually become obsolete and need to be replaced. Economic depreciation in the model is estimated at 6.6% (compared to 1.9% for physical depreciation).

8.4 Gellatly, G., Tanguay, M. and Yan, B. (2002) An Alternative Methodology for Estimating Economic Depreciation: New Results Using a Survival Model

This paper develops depreciation profiles and life assets for 8 different types of structures. Gellatly, Tanguay and Yan determine depreciation on office buildings at a rate of approximately 7.6% and industrial buildings at a rate of 13.0%.

It is noted that substantial reductions in economic value are apparent early in life for many of the sampled structures. This study differs from Hulten and Wykoff, in that the model has a component included which calculates the 'survival ratio' of assets. It therefore incorporates the issue of retired assets, previously addressed as a limitation of Hulten and Wykoff in the work by Gravelle.

8.5 Dixon, T., Crosby, N. and Law, V. (1999) A critical review of methodologies for measuring rental depreciation applied to UK commercial real estate

This paper provides an analytical review of the methodologies and results of a number of past depreciation studies, including Hulten and Wykoff. The paper provides a breakdown of



depreciation rates on buildings from the studies examined and show a range of 1.1 to 3.0% for office buildings and 0.52 to 3.3% for industrial buildings.

9 Summary of the additional international evidence

The additional evidence outlined above confirms the results of the international studies referenced in the 2004 officials' issues paper – namely that buildings, and specifically commercial and industrial buildings, do depreciate. Importantly, we have not come across any studies which suggest that buildings do not depreciate.

While there are differing ranges for depreciation rates (and estimated useful lives) for non-residential buildings, the studies indicate that the current 3% DV rate (and 2% straight-line) rate is broadly appropriate. The recent comprehensive Patry study suggests that depreciation rates for commercial and industrial buildings should be much higher. However, we note that the consensus appears to be around the (lower) Hulten and Wykoff estimates.

10 New Zealand evidence and issues

One of the key constraints identified in the officials' issues paper, which persists today is the lack of New Zealand data, or empirical analysis, on building depreciation rates.

A potential concern with relying solely on international evidence may be that depreciation profiles for buildings may differ by geographic location (e.g. office buildings in London versus central Auckland or Wellington). However, we do not believe that any geographical differences would be sufficient to justify tax depreciation being removed for New Zealand buildings.

This is because the factors underlying tenant (and owner-occupier) demand for non-residential buildings in New Zealand should be the same as in Australia, Canada, the United Kingdom, or the United States.

We provide some qualitative analysis of the New Zealand commercial property sector below, supporting the international evidence that non-residential buildings do depreciate. This is based on our discussions with various PCNZ members on factors impacting on the New Zealand commercial and industrial property sector.

10.1 Higher rates of redevelopment for commercial buildings

We note that a clearly observable phenomenon with commercial buildings in New Zealand is the high rates of redevelopment (or capital reinvestment) – note for example, how few office buildings in the Auckland and Wellington CBDs are older than 30 years, let alone ones which have not undergone any significant capital improvements to the building structure.

This suggests that the average useful life of a commercial building is likely to be significantly less than the 50 year economic life used to set tax depreciation rates (we note that a number of



international studies have found the average service life of buildings today to be lower than in, say, the 1980s).

More importantly it shows that non-residential buildings are regularly being demolished to make way for newer buildings, when the opportunity cost exceeds the market value of an existing building. This strongly supports the assertion that these buildings depreciate due to obsolescence factors.

10.2 Changes in preferences and technology impact on capital values

The impact of changes in tenants' preferences on building values can also be readily observed.

By way of example, we understand the New Zealand Government has recently introduced new "Green" (energy efficiency) requirements for office buildings leased by the various Government departments. Compliance with these requirements has required significant capital improvements by commercial landlords (including a majority of the LPTs) to a number of existing buildings. Similarly, the move away from individual offices to an open plan office environment has required reconfiguration of certain structures, to meet occupiers' needs. In the absence of these improvements, the expected return on these properties will fall significantly (in turn impacting on buildings' capital values).

Drivers of technical obsolescence, in the commercial property sector, include changes to building standards. For example, office buildings constructed in the 1980s will have had significant structural improvements to bring them up to compliance with earthquake standards. Where such improvements are not cost effective, the building would have been demolished and new earthquake standard compliant structures erected instead.

In our view, the above are very real examples of the economic depreciation of buildings.

10.3 Buildings move between different market segments

Buildings also move across different market segments over their economic life, depending on their condition and suitability for use. For example, an office building developed in the 1970s may have been prime real estate at the time. However, if unimproved (but nevertheless reasonably maintained) the same building in 2010 will typically be sub-prime property due to changes in technology and tenants' preferences. This lower status will be reflected in the much lower rental yields on the property compared to a newer, more technologically advanced, building.

This movement of buildings across different segments of the market, over time, means that the analysis of capital values in aggregate (using for example, Quotable Value or Government valuation data) is inappropriate. Instead, the analysis needs to be done on a building by building basis, which we note would be a prohibitive exercise not least of which because the valuation data available does not separate out the value of capital expenditure over the life of a building.



This makes any attempt to draw any conclusions from the changes in capital values inherently dangerous.

The PCNZ has discussed in depth with CBRE, the available valuation databases to undertake empirical testing of whether buildings depreciate. Unfortunately, the databases available (i.e. QV, Government valuations, and the PCNZ Property Index) omit a number of key variables necessary to undertake any meaningful analysis.

11 Impact if depreciation on non-residential buildings was removed

We provide below some analysis of the potential economic impact if tax depreciation on non-residential buildings is removed. We note that a more detailed report on the merits of the TWG's property tax proposals will be prepared by the New Zealand Institute of Economic Research.

11.1 Breakdown of the fiscal implications

Inland Revenue's estimate of the additional revenue that would be raised by denying depreciation deductions on buildings is \$1.3 billion per annum. We understand that approximately 30% of this revenue estimate relates to denying depreciation on residential properties (i.e. rental housing investment in the tax base). 70%, or approximately \$900 million, would be raised by denying depreciation deductions to owners of non-residential buildings, including members of the PCNZ. Applying a 30% tax rate, this suggests that annual depreciation deductions for non-residential buildings amount to approximately \$3 billion.

We understand that the costing has been constructed using Statistics New Zealand capital stock data and fixed capital formation data for the 2008 year with various assumptions around the proportion of residential and non-residential buildings in the tax base (approximately 20% and 100%, respectively). The net capital stock of residential buildings in 2008, in current prices, was valued at approximately \$267 billion, while non-residential buildings comprised approximately \$110 billion.

We have not seen the detailed costing work, but would assume that the above estimate is likely to (perhaps significantly) overstate the additional revenue from denying depreciation on non-residential buildings. For example, we note that capital stock is valued in current prices, whereas the depreciation base is historical cost (it is unclear whether any adjustment has been made to capital stock to compensate). Also, the assumption that most, if not all, non-residential property is in the tax base discounts significant property holdings by non-taxpayers (including the charitable sector and local and central government).

If the revenue impact is unclear, there is a risk of policy decisions being made without the full costs and benefits being understood.



11.2 The impact will be felt predominantly by New Zealand businesses

The largest 4 LPTs in the New Zealand market, which can be used as a reasonable proxy for institutional investment in commercial property, hold approximately \$4.1 billion (excluding land value), or around 3 to 4%, of the total stock of non-residential buildings⁵. In total, these taxpayers have annual depreciation deductions of around \$65 to \$70 million per annum. This comprises approximately 2% of the \$3 billion gross depreciation deduction that would be disallowed under any depreciation change.

This leads us to conclude that the majority of the impact from removing depreciation on non-resident buildings will be felt by New Zealand businesses that own their premises. This will result in a real cash-flow cost to these businesses (which may or may not be compensated through other tax changes).

We understand that some business owners, particularly in the SME sector, own premises as a form of collateral to secure bank financing for their operations. The loss of tax depreciation could raise the cost of capital to such firms (to the extent the tax benefit of depreciation deductions reduce their net financing costs) or reduce availability of credit.

It also possible that removing a tax deduction in one area will simply refocus attention on other areas (e.g. the interest deductibility rules). To the extent gearing can be increased, the same after tax return profile may be able to be achieved. This would not be desirable from an economic perspective.

11.3 Impact on cost of, and investment in, commercial property infrastructure

Removing depreciation on non-residential buildings will either reduce re-investment in this sector or increase rents for occupiers.

Office buildings, manufacturing plant, warehousing, etc, are all part of the infrastructure of New Zealand Inc. Reduced investment in this infrastructure or a higher cost associated with its use will adversely impact on the competitiveness of New Zealand business.

12 Tax depreciation treatment in other jurisdictions

The appendix to this report compares the tax depreciation treatment of buildings in a number of other countries – based on a survey of KPMG's international network of member firms on depreciation and other land taxes. We note that, as a general rule, non-residential buildings receive some depreciation tax benefits (either as an explicit tax depreciation deduction or by way of capital allowances).

⁵ Kiwi Income Property Trust, Goodman Property Trust, AMP NZ Office Trust, ING Property Trust, based on First NZ Capital data.



In particular, we note that the majority of our trading partners, including Australia, Germany, Japan and the United States allow depreciation of (some or all) non-residential buildings.

The United Kingdom currently allows depreciation in respect of industrial buildings (called an industrial building allowance); however this is to be abolished from 2011.

Removing tax depreciation for non-residential buildings would make New Zealand an outlier from a global taxation perspective. At a time when countries are increasingly competing for internationally mobile capital, the New Zealand tax system needs to provide the right incentives for business to stay in New Zealand and relocate here. Removing tax depreciation, when there is clear international evidence that buildings do depreciate, would be contrary to this objective.

13 Pressure on capital/revenue boundary

The boundary for what is a capital expense and repairs and maintenance will need to be addressed.

While an ongoing issue, currently, if maintenance expenditure (which should be deductible under ordinary principles) is not immediately expensed because it is classified as capital expenditure for tax purposes, it can nevertheless be claimed under the depreciation rules.

If depreciation is removed, these amounts will be permanently non-deductible putting significant pressure on the boundary between what is, and is not, repairs and maintenance of a building. For the commercial property sector this is significant given the substantial sums that are spent on refurbishment and maintenance.

14 Conclusion

The findings of the 2004 officials' issues paper, and other international research on the tax depreciation of buildings, strongly suggest that buildings do depreciate. This is also supported by various anecdotal evidence on the need to replace and improve buildings. Further we have not found any studies which suggest buildings do not depreciate.

We recognise that the Government is constrained fiscally, and any changes to the tax system will need to be self-funding. Removing depreciation on buildings would seem to be an easy (or at least an easier) option, to fund changes to tax rates.

We do not dispute the need for reform of the tax system to address the various anomalies in the tax system (including rental housing, if there is a tax bias there). As far as we are aware, tax depreciation on non-residential buildings was not an area of concern for the TWG.

There needs to be a compelling reason for change. Removing depreciation on buildings simply to fund other changes in the tax system, when there is considerable evidence that buildings do economically depreciate, is not such a reason.



15 Disclaimers

This report has been drafted specifically in response to a request by PCNZ for advice on the TWG's tax depreciation recommendation. Accordingly, neither KPMG nor any member or employee of the firm undertakes responsibility in any way whatsoever to any person, other than PCNZ, for any errors or omissions in the report, however caused.

The analysis contained in this report includes information provided by PCNZ members, and other third parties, to KPMG. Neither KPMG nor any member or employee of the firm undertakes responsibility in any way whatsoever to any person for any errors or omissions in third party information provided to us.



Appendix - Summary of responses from KPMG's global member firms (Depreciation and Land Tax Rules)

16

Γ	the ple cle con the plan to the plan to the plan	the do	here sigalin sh		E	8
Australia	The description of the descripti	The quantities will not produce the construction of the manufaction are not advanced as the complex. The quantities deviction is also complex. The production are sequent to the production production is also produce on well as the production production and a production are sequent to the reporting when they or copies approach to copies also approach as the production of the production of the dependium. The rises are cuffined at OA.	No - Serie are currently no restriction is place, in the past, there is no controlled to the controlle	Ridot to summary table	The makes are logished in Autobald's Poorne Tax Assessment AZ.	The deposed of buildings werels have been observationed by an entered with the proper a combination size ("VCD) years, (Boods), by a comment of the proper source of the proper s
United States	herroelional building are depositioned of separate services by services and services by services and services by services and services by services of services are services by services and services are services by services and services are serviced by services and services are serviced by services and services are services as services and services are services and services are services as services and services are services as services and services are services as services as services are services as services as services as services are services as services and services are services as services are servi	Ves, read entil ented propelles are spreadent on a tribegin fine to ses one 27 years. Etc. Section (160b,(3)(8))	Vis. of the region of before included in the control of the contro	Milk growing known, control woods of the control wo	The dependent make when revised, were the dependent make when revised were the Chaptering of the control of the	And generally assess to make the mind haddy Richaeon 1900 New, lower the wind remote to include analyses. It is second and much added to come of the second and analyses a resident for come of the second companies and the second of the second companies and the second of the second companies and the second of the second of the companies and the second of the second of the companies and the second of the second of the companies and the companies and companies an
Thailand	in geneal, buildings (except) resystems, buildings (except) resystems buildings in resystems of the first of the expansion road from the control late, purposes, control number buildings of depreciating buildings.	If the establish properties are entroof the contract of the company's business and properties are entroof the company's contract of the company's contract of the company for the properties and the company for previous the contract of the company for the contract of the con	Debution for depreciation of the control of the control of the control of the control of carry (oward for 5 pens).	the property of the property o	No information - requires further research	modeline models for the ciffice models of the ciffic models of the c
Malaysia	The present of the control buildings of provided in the control buildings of the cont	No.	wall, (nowe for a state of community or a seasible to the discount of the grant of a seasible of the grant of a seasible of the grant of the state of the grant o	When magnot be inclusived building allowances, the magnotistic and an expensive controlled building allowances, the magnotistic and an expensive controlled building allowances. The magnotistic and the magno	is is enviroped that futitive meanch would be necessary in code to accordant the busish by which the busish of which the busish of which the busish of the b	For Melayan in to papewar, the disposal of a member of the control of the contro
The Netherlands	The opposition of the control of the	Intrological two sets in Australia of a minorable Property Act (VICC), whereas of a processing of a processing a set of a processing and a part of a set of a set of a part of a	For profile but purposes, and it have no existion in obtaining business related the common frame of the common for the common	There is no lised depreciation in pagicable. This is a coded by a capture of the capt		a building is sold for more than his be been proportional to a sold for more than the Contrainational countries considered to contrain the countries of the countries of the Contraination of the countries of the countries of the Contraination of the countries of
Hong Kong	The abounces in respect of non- presentation of the property law regimes of non- presentation and or services of the property law regimes and the property law regimes of the property law regimes and the property law reg	Sectionist ental properties in h Kong should qualify for comme building blowance in ce profits propes, No tax allocance, into	For profits to suppose, used it mass from the profits of the prof	Buddigy or includes as brookly controlled to the	As the bix allowances for inclusion's commendate information to include the control of the contr	The parties process are more on the control of the
nied-Kingdom Japan Germany HK	Ver, growing, 27% for our dis building very very constrained at the constrained at the constrained at the constrained out cases of t	The building use of the commentation of the building of the bu	Yes, we are sestions cocomple supply of the first and the complete of the comp	See arrest to (3) above to (4)	According to our understanding, the law byprociden metre, set by the German faceal by notices, see based on so preferences during the based on so generous during the audio of the German faceal authorities.	There are no special than the a recompletion of proposes to the completion of the co
	Yes, builtings are deprecised on a straight line basis.	, de	There are business that stop gape bytes of income for inchedular to produce the stop gape bytes of income for thick day as particles in the registery as teaching a state carry to a state of the company of a state of the particle of the ball of the ball of the particle o	indiction up but new, it doesn't actually offerentiates on the use construction in about 40 years. I will follow up with name details on the use of the state of	The currently procedure and only the types may be usen an amenitor to somewhat the currently of the cut of the	The depreciated view becomes the basis for determining the
	No. Percent) is enter on months in respond to appropriate on transition in respond of appropriate on transition and as a residence of the post of the appropriate of the appropriate of the propriate of appropriate of the propriate of appropriate of the propriate of appropriate of the propriate of appropriate of appropriate appropriate appropriate appro	Мо	for in included letting property on the control property by the control property of the control property by the control media and for the control property by the control media and control control control control control control control control control co	No drawcillon is available.	NA	\$
Singapore	No. The deposition is eny disease for non- transport and an engage of the con- traction of the contraction of the con- traction of the contraction of the con- traction of the co	Ma	Leaves from militario (m. 1974). 27 A consideration of the consideratio	F the builting castless for site, it as a movement of 25% of the cognition of 25%	(Апачен ИЛА)	When a building is still a clambde of the allowance clamps will be
Ireland	Antakes buildings wing needed supplied to a stand for control of the supplied to the supplied	Gereaflyno. We had special princeries with the round princeries with the round princeries produce to the real localed in certain grees localed in certain grees	Received from commonly by others and parties for the common of they carrow be others against the common of the com	when the state of	They are set out in legislation on the above basis.	Journels and Authorities of Authorit
:	1. Dee your juridiction slove (dependent on row-resteration) of the second of the seco	2. Does your jurisdiction allow dependation on very child in mula properties?	3.h hee ny estiction ordinating too he heep of basis incom? distrips of basis incom?	A And those otherwise as opposition or the And Andrews the adoption and the Andrews the Andrews (Andrews the Andrews the buildings, feeters warmed and buildings, feeters warmed and and, if so, what we the broad care	6. How are tax deprote lation rates and to go the set to tax set to the set to tax and th	6. An their stat for records of the val for the val for records of the val for records of the val for the value of the val



Yes – each Australian. Sees and the Australian Capital Territry in the australian Sees and the Australian Capital Territry at distance and set of the participance value of the distance of the set of the capital Capital Sees.	
In the United States, property tax on read and easily and controlled the Controlled for easily and controlled the Controlled for any controlled the Controlled about provinces to not levy property tax.	
Yes a house and Land lank is knied at the smile of 12% of the seesed that what of the sopperty. There are also and service the debts on the treated of minorable property	
In Makayala Inne in product in the form of in Makayala Inne in property tax in the form of in the form of in the form of interest the f	
Beacon Duch to law land to Ches not cest from the hones or properly but. beacon to have one medical of the beacon to the above medical of the study with its mouthly insidelised by	
There is no lard auching long. However, treas and organization can also appoint a secondary control of the cont	
YY	
With Mire production and production	using This in apply grow and event by episional lines on its folian application does not consider the consideration of the application decorated in each and application of the applicat
There is properly ann thingspon. These your jurisdiction have a land tax. A present reve con't have a both as a both and the same and the same into proper and a same and the same into proper and a same and the same into proper and a same and the same	
A present we dan't have a land as a food and a food a	
Does-your production have a land tax. Approprie we con Tones a build bx origing an arrise to a production have a land tax of the second to the	